IN THE
SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

MATTHEW HOLMES

Plaintiff/Appellant
v.

MIRANDA POMEROY,

Defendant-Appellee.

*ON APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
IN AND FOR WARREN COUNTY
HONORABLE MICHAEL JACOBSEN,
DISTRICT COURT JUDGE*

Final BRIEF FOR APPELLANTS

Matthew M. Sahag
DICKY, CAMPBELL & SAHAG LAW FIRM, PLC
301 East Walnut Street, Suite 1
Des Moines, Iowa 50309
PHONE: (515) 288-5008
FAX: (515) 288-5010
EMAIL: matthew@iowajustice.com

PROOF OF SERVICE

On March 26, 2020, I filed this brief electronically through the EDMS system, which will serve the parties:

J Scott Bardole
Andersen & Associates
1089 Jordan Creek Parkway, Suite 360
West Des Moines, IA 50266
sbardole@travelers.com

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT ADMITTED DEPUTY OHLINGER'S TESTIMONY ON DIRECT EXAMINATION THAT POMEROY WAS TEXTING WHILE DRIVING AND THEN PRECLUDED HOLMES FROM CROSS-EXAMINING DEPUTY OHLINGER ON THE SAME STATEMENT OR USING THE ADMITTED STATEMENT IN CLOSING ARGUMENTS ON HEARSAY GROUNDS. 13

Estate of Poll, 928 N.W.2d 890 (Iowa Ct. App.2019)

Giza v. BNSF Ry. Co., 843 N.W.2d 713 (Iowa 2014)

II. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT IMPROPERLY ADMITTED LAY WITNESS TESTIMONY THAT HOLMES SAID THE ACCIDENT WAS HIS FAULT BECAUSE LEGAL CONCLUSIONS ARE NOT ADMISISBLE AS ADMISSIONS AGAINST A PLEADER’S INTEREST 15

Beyer v. Todd, 601 N.W.2d 35 (Iowa 1999)
Estate of Poll, 928 N.W.2d 890 (Iowa Ct. App.2019)
Giza v. BNSF Ry. Co., 843 N.W.2d 713 (Iowa 2014)
Blinder, Robinson Co. v. Bruton, 522 A.2d 46 (Del. 1989)

III. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT IMPROPERLY EXCLUDED EXAMPLES OF POMEROY’S HABIT OF TEXTING WHILE DRIVING BECAUSE MANY OF THE EXAMPLES OCCURRED AFTER THE ACCIDENT 17

Estate of Poll, 928 N.W.2d 890 (Iowa Ct. App.2019)
Giza v. BNSF Ry. Co., 843 N.W.2d 713 (Iowa 2014)
Gasiorowski vs. Hose, 182 Ariz. 376 (Ct. App. Az. 1995)
Kita vs. Borough of Lindenwold, 701 A.2d 938 (NJ App. 1997)
DeMatteo v. Simon, 812 P.2d 361 (Ct. App. New Mexico 1991)
John H. Wigmore, *Wigmore on Evidence* §375 (Chadbourn rev. 1979)

IV. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN DENYING HOLMES’ MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL DUE TO POMEROY’S MISCONDUCT WHEN SHE CONCEALED TEXT MESSAGES ON HER CELL PHONE THROUGHOUT LITIGATION AND THEN TOLD THE JURY THEY WERE ON HER PHONE DURING CLOSING ARGUMENTS.....25

Fry v. Blauvelt, 818 N.W.2d 123 (Iowa 2012)
Rivera v. Woodward Resource Center, 865 N.W.2d 887 (Iowa 2015)

IOWA R. CIV. P. 1.1004

ROUTING STATEMENT

Because this case involves the application of facts to existing precedent, transfer to the Court of Appeals would be appropriate. IOWA R. APP. P. 6.1101.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal follows a district court trial tried to Judge Michael Jacobsen on September 11, 2018 to September 13, 2018, in which Plaintiff Matthew Holmes (“Holmes”) alleged that Defendant Miranda Pomeroy (“Pomeroy”) was negligent in operating her vehicle thereby causing him injury. A jury verdict was entered September 13, 2018. The jury found in favor of Pomeroy on Holmes’ claim. On October 12, 2018, the district court denied Holmes’ Motion for New Trial. Judgment was entered on June 14, 2019.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On June 8, 2015, Holmes was riding his bicycle southbound on the bike trail just west of the Cumming Tap in Cumming, Iowa. (T.T. Vol. II. 107:15 to 111:24). At the same time, Pomeroy was operating her vehicle driving westbound on Cumming Avenue. (T.T. Vol. II. 111:22) Holmes turned left onto Cumming Avenue and proceeded towards the

eastbound lane prior to making a turn up the alley that leads to the Cumming Tap. As Holmes reached the eastbound lane, he noticed that Pomeroy had also changed direction towards the eastbound lane. (T.T. Vol. II. 111:22-24). As he reached the eastbound lane, he noticed that Pomeroy was also in the same lane and believed that if he continued in that direction that he would be in a collision with Pomeroy. Holmes changed direction towards the westbound lane in an attempt to avoid a collision, but Pomeroy also changed direction towards him again. Pomeroy's vehicle collided with Holmes and his bicycle. (T.T. Vol. II. 112:11 to 24). Holmes suffered extensive injuries in the collision, including tears/strains of his MCL, PCL, ACL and meniscus, scarring, an anal muscle tear, facial lacerations and a dislocated shoulder. (T.T. Vol. II. 116:1 to 119:25). Pomeroy was not harmed.

Deputy Lisa Ohlinger investigated the collision. While investigating the incident, a witness told her that Pomeroy was texting while driving. (T.T. Vol. II. 195:2-14). Dr. Andrea J. Silvers did not witness the collision but tended to Holmes while he was laying on the ground. (T.T. Vol. II. 135:11 to 136:25). Silvers testified that Holmes said the collision was his fault. (T.T. Vol. II. 137:3-5).

During discovery, Holmes requested all of Pomeroy's text messages on her phone. App. at 48-62. Pomeroy represented via her production of documents that she had no text messages on her cellphone. App. at 48-62. Outside the presence of the jury during trial, Pomeroy told the Court that she no longer had text messages on her phone, saying that they were somewhere in the ether sphere. (T.T. Vol. III. 15-21). However, during closing arguments, Pomeroy told the jury that the text messages were still on her cellphone and blamed Holmes for not seeing them. (T.T. Vol. III. 65:1-7).

During trial, Holmes attempted to offer testimony and Exhibit 41 as evidence of Pomeroy's exhibit for driving while distracted. App. at 75-124; (T.T. Vol. I. 68:24 to 71:25). The Court allowed some of the evidence for purposes of impeachment only, but not for purposes of showing habit. App. at 22.

This appeal ensued.

ARGUMENT

- I. THE DISTRICT COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT ADMITTED DEPUTY OHLINGER'S TESTIMONY ON DIRECT EXAMINATION THAT POMEROY WAS TEXTING WHILE DRIVING AND THEN PRECLUDED HOLMES FROM CROSS-EXAMINING DEPUTY OHLINGER ON THE SAME STATEMENT OR USING THE ADMITTED STATEMENT IN CLOSING ARGUMENTS ON HEARSAY GROUNDS.

Preservation of Error:

Plaintiff preserved error by attempting to cross-examine Deputy Ohlinger about her already admitted statement and by attempting to use the statement during closing arguments. (T.T. Vol. II. 197:24 to 199:24; Vol. III. 29:3 to 31:25).

Standard of Review:

Evidentiary rulings are reviewed on appeal for an abuse of discretion, which occurs when the district court bases its ruling on grounds that are unreasonable or untenable. *Estate of Poll*, 928 N.W.2d 890 (Iowa Ct. App. 2019)(citing *see Giza v. BNSF Ry. Co.*, 843 N.W.2d 713, 718 (Iowa 2014).

Merits:

Pomeroy called Deputy Lisa Ohlinger, the deputy who investigated the collision, as one of her witnesses. On direct

examination, Pomeroy's counsel engaged in the following exchange with Ohlinger pertaining to her investigation:

Q Now, do you recall in your report whether you investigated whether or not there was any – whether Ms. Pomeroy had been acting in any way that might have contributed to the accident at the time?

...

A Somebody there had mentioned that somebody else maybe had thought she was texting...

(T.T. Vol. II. 195:2-18). Significantly, this exchange was not objected to and therefore admitted into evidence. After six (6) more questions, Pomeroy's lawyer concluded his examination of Ohlinger. (T. T. Vol. II. 197:18). On cross, Holmes' lawyer's first question of Ohlinger pertained to her testimony on direct examination that there was a suspicion that Pomeroy was texting while driving. (T.T. Vol. II. 197:24-25). However, Pomeroy's lawyer lodged a hearsay objection and the Court sustained the objection even though the statement was already in evidence. (T.T. Vol. II. 198:2-15). Holmes' lawyer reminded the Court of the same after several repeated objections from Pomeroy, but the

Court maintained that the already admitted statement constituted hearsay. (T.T. Vol. II. 198;7 to 200:1).

For closing arguments, Holmes prepared a PowerPoint slide that said “[a] witness said Miranda was texting while driving.” (T.T. Vol. III. 29:3-14). However, Pomeroy’s lawyer objected to the slide arguing that the statement was hearsay, and the Court precluded Holmes from using the statement in closing argument despite the fact that the statement was admitted during direct examination of Ohlinger. (T.T. Vol. III. 29-31). Precluding Holmes from using testimony on cross-examination and in closing arguments that had already been admitted was clearly unreasonable. As such, the Court abused its discretion and this Court should award Holmes a new trial.

II. THE DISTRICT COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT IMPROPERLY ADMITTED LAY WITNESS TESTIMONY THAT HOLMES SAID THE ACCIDENT WAS HIS FAULT BECAUSE LEGAL CONCLUSIONS ARE NOT ADMISSIBLE AS ADMISSIONS AGAINST A PLEADER’S INTEREST.

Preservation of Error:

Plaintiff preserved error by filing a Motion in Limine attempting to exclude testimony surrounding his purported statement that the

accident was his fault and by objecting to the testimony during trial App. at 9; (T.T. Vol. II. 137:4-9).

Standard of Review:

Evidentiary rulings are reviewed on appeal for an abuse of discretion, which occurs when the district court bases its ruling on grounds that are unreasonable or untenable. *Estate of Poll*, 928 N.W.2d 890 (Iowa Ct. App. 2019)(citing *see Giza v. BNSF Ry. Co.*, 843 N.W.2d 713, 718 (Iowa 2014).

Merits:

In his Motion in Limine, Holmes argued evidence surrounding his purported statement that the collision was his fault is inadmissible as a legal conclusion. App. at 9. Additionally, during testimony, Holmes objected to Dr. Andrea Silvers' statement that Holmes said the collision was his fault as a legal conclusion, but the Court overruled Holmes' objection. (T.T. Vol. II. 137:4-9). The Court's decision to admit Holmes' purported statement was clearly unreasonable. Ultimately the jury decided who prevailed based on who was at fault as instructed by the jury instructions. At the time of the incident, Holmes didn't know the law, and as such was not equipped to opine on "fault." The law in Iowa

is clear – legal conclusions are not admissible as admissions against a pleader’s interest. *See Beyer v. Todd*, 601 N.W.2d 35, 42 (Iowa 1999)(citing *Blinder, Robinson Co. v. Bruton*, 552 A.2d 46, 474 (Del. 1989). This is precisely why it was unreasonable for the Court to admit lay witness testimony regarding Holmes’ purported statement that the collision was his fault. For this reason, this Court should reverse the District Court’s decision and award Holmes a new trial.

III. THE DISTRICT COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT IMPROPERLY EXCLUDED EXAMPLES OF POMEROY’S HABIT OF TEXTING WHILE DRIVING BECAUSE MANY OF THE EXAMPLES OCCURRED AFTER THE ACCIDENT.

Preservation of Error:

Plaintiff preserved error by offering the exhibits via an offer of proof during trial. (T.T. Vol. II. 86-106 to Vol. III. 9:24 to 23:24).

Standard of Review:

Evidentiary rulings are reviewed on appeal for an abuse of discretion, which occurs when the district court bases its ruling on grounds that are unreasonable or untenable. *Estate of Poll*, 928 N.W.2d 890 (Iowa Ct. App. 2019)(citing *see Giza v. BNSF Ry. Co.*, 843 N.W.2d 713, 718 (Iowa 2014).

Merits:

Via discovery, Holmes obtained pictures, videos and social media messages from Pomeroy's cellphone for the period May 31, 2015, to June 24, 2018, with Pomeroy using her cell phone while driving. App. at 75-124; (T.T. Vol. I. 68:24 to 71:25). As such, evidence existed of Pomeroy driving while distracted prior to and after the June 8, 2015, incident. App. at 75-124; (T.T. Vol. I. 68:24 to 71:35). Holmes argued in pretrial motions and via an offer of proof that this evidence is admissible as Pomeroy's habit for driving while distracted. However, relying on the case of *DeMatteo v. Simon*, 812 P.2d 361 (Ct. App. New Mexico 1991), the Court held that subsequent conduct is not admissible for the purpose of showing a habit. App. at 14-15. In relying on the New Mexico Court of Appeals decision, the Court declined to follow authorities cited by Holmes including *Gasiorowski vs. Hose*, 182 Ariz. 376, 380 (Court App. Az. 1995), *Kita vs. Borough of Lindenwold*, 701 A.2d 938, 941 (NJ App. 1997) and John H. Wigmore, *Wigmore on Evidence* §375 (Chadbourn rev. 1979) that hold the opposite; habit may be shown by subsequent conduct exhibiting that habit. *Id.* The Court specifically instructed the jury in Jury Instruction #9, that the above-mentioned evidence could not be considered as proving that the

Pomeroy was distracted by such acts at the time of the accident on June 8, 2015 App. at 22.

Notably, Iowa appellate courts have not addressed whether subsequent conduct is admissible as evidence of a habit. In the context of this matter, however, the frequency in which Pomeroy drove distracted by her cell phone after the collision and the fact that Pomeroy drove while distracted prior to the incident in question certainly sheds light on whether she was driving while distracted on June 8, 2015, when she collided with Holmes. The following evidence is a sample of evidence that was presented via an offer of proof to be used as habit evidence; some of which was admitted for impeachment purposes because Pomeroy testified that she had never driven while distracted:

Date	Description	Evidence	Admitted/Excluded
5/31/2015	7 text messages while Pomeroy was driving	T.T. Vol. I. 75:10 to 77:8	Admitted – impeachment only

9/25/2015	Pomeroy took a photo while driving in her car	Exhibit 41-10	Admitted – impeachment only
1/31/2016	Pomeroy texts, “I am driving,” to Caleb Bracken	T.T. Vol. I. 78:13-22	Admitted – impeachment only
2/14/2017	Pomeroy takes photo of dog in truck while driving	Exhibit 41-16; T.T. Vol. II. 18:9	Admitted – impeachment only
3/19/2017	Pomeroy takes photo of sunset while driving	Exhibit 41-14; T.T. Vol. I. 91:3	Admitted – impeachment only
3/19/2017	Pomeroy takes photo while driving	Exhibit 41-17; T.T. Vol. I. 93:7	Admitted – impeachment only

3/19/2017	Pomeroy takes photo while driving	Exhibit 41-18; T.T. Vol. I. 94:1	Admitted – impeachment only
4/17/2017	Pomeroy snaps selfie while driving – seatbelt on	Exhibit 41-22; T.T. Vol. I. 94:24-25	Excluded
5/4/2017	Pomeroy snaps selfie while driving – seatbelt on	Exhibit 41 – 20; T.T. Vol. I. 96:18	Excluded
6/13/2017	Pomeroy snaps selfie with sister in car while in traffic – vehicle next to them	Exhibit 41-21; T.T. Vol. I. 97:20	Excluded

6/23/2017	Pomeroy takes photo, while driving; speedometer reads 15 mph	Exhibit 41-13; T.T. Vol. I. 89:16	Admitted – impeachment only
7/1/2017	Pomeroy takes photo of car ahead of her while driving	Exhibit 41-25; T.T. Vol. I. 104:1	Admitted – impeachment only
7/2/2017	Pomeroy takes selfie while driving	Exhibit 41-26; T.T. Vol. I. 99:12	Admitted – impeachment only
7/2/2017	Pomeroy takes picture of road while driving	Exhibit 41-48; T.T. 100:4	Admitted – impeachment only
7/2/2017	Pomeroy takes photo of road while driving	Exhibit 41-27; T.T. Vol. I. 100:22	Admitted – impeachment only

7/2/2017	Pomeroy takes photo of sky and field while driving	Exhibit 41-28; T.T. Vol. I. 101:17	Admitted – impeachment only
7/2/2017	Pomeroy takes photo of sky and cornfield while driving	Exhibit 41-29; T.T. Vol. I. 102:15	Admitted impeachment only
7/20/2017	Pomeroy takes photo of motorcycle while driving	Exhibit 41-33; T.T. Vol. I. 105:1	Admitted – impeachment only
7/23/2017	Pomeroy takes photo of sky while driving	Exhibit 41-35; T.T. Vol. II. 20:2	Excluded
2/6/2018	Pomeroy takes photo of snowplow while driving	Exhibit 41-28; T.T. Vol. II. 20:23	Admitted – impeachment only

App. at 74-124.

If Pomeroy testified that she wasn't driving and the picture didn't obviously show Pomeroy on the traveled portion of the roadway, the Court totally excluded the evidence. (T.T. Vol. II. 12:22 to 13:5). This was problematic because all of the evidence was admitted for impeachment purposes in the first place due to the fact that Pomeroy testified that she had never driven while distracted. (T.T. Vol I. 45:9 to 48:12, 49:6 to 50:9, 61:13 to 106). While all of the evidence was excluded to show habit, the Court shouldn't have taken Pomeroy's statement that she wasn't driving at face value. The pictures offered inferences that Pomeroy was indeed driving. For example, exhibit 41-20 was excluded because Pomeroy said she wasn't driving, yet Pomeroy had her seatbelt on in the picture. App. at 94. This picture along with others offered circumstantial evidence that Pomeroy was driving while distracted and should have been admitted. The twenty (20) examples in the table above should have been enough for the Court to allow the evidence to show Pomeroy's habit for driving while distracted. Indeed, the only rational explanation for Pomeroy to text, snapchat and/or take photos while driving *after* she severely injured Holmes while driving

was that she couldn't break her habit. For these reasons, it was unreasonable for the Court to exclude the evidence as habit evidence, and Holmes should be awarded a new trial.

IV. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRORED IN DENYING HOLMES' MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL DUE TO POMEROY'S MISCONDUCT WHEN SHE CONCEALED TEXT MESSAGES ON HER CELL PHONE THROUGHOUT LITIGATION AND THEN TOLD THE JURY THEY WERE ON HER PHONE DURING CLOSING ARGUMENTS

Preservation of Error:

Plaintiff preserved error by filing a motion for new trial. App. 37-43.

Standard of Review:

The appellate courts review "the denial of a motion for new trial based on the grounds asserted in the motion." *Rivera v. Woodward Resource Center*, 865 N.W.2d 887, 891-92 (Iowa 2015) (quoting *Fry v. Blauvelt*, 818 N.W.2d 123, 128 (Iowa 2012)). If the basis for the motion is a legal question, review is for correction of errors at law. *Id.* citing *Id.*

Merits:

A new trial may be granted where there is misconduct by the prevailing party. Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.1004. Evidence of text messages on Pomeroy's cellphone on the date of the incident was repeatedly

requested throughout the trial stages of this matter. App. at 38-43.

However, up until her closing argument, Pomeroy maintained that she obtained a new cellphone and that the text messages did not transfer from her old phone.

Pomeroy resisted a spoliation instruction during trial with her lawyer arguing that the messages were gone and somewhere out in the ether sphere. (T.T. Vol. III. 9:17-18). That argument was consistent with her response to Holmes's Second Request for Production of Documents #11 which read as follows:

Request for Production 11:

Any and all cell phone records, to include billing and call records and text message records for the date of the accident, for all cell phones you had access to on the date of the accident.

Response: See attached.

App. at 50. No text messages were produced with the response.

Holmes was given a spoliation instruction based on Pomeroy's intentional deletion of the messages from her phone. App. at 23.

Then, in closing arguments, and contrary to the record made to the spoliation instruction and the entirety of litigation, Pomeroy's lawyer tried to undercut the spoliation instruction by stating to

the jury that the text messages weren't deleted, and that Holmes just didn't look at them. (T.T. Vol. III. 65:6-7). Specifically,

Pomeroy's lawyer argued as follows:

Mr. Sahag then decided that in order to try and – since he doesn't have the facts, he doesn't have the law, let me see what I can do. So he goes and looks through thousands of photos. He went through her Snapchat. He went through her Facebook. He went through every picture on her phone.

I don't know why he didn't look at the texts. They were there, too.

(T.T. Vol. III. 64:25 to 65:7). Again, outside the presence of the jury while opposing the spoliation instruction, Pomeroy's lawyer represented the following:

She has no idea there is going to be any lawsuit brought at all. So how can she have knowingly destroyed these texts...*there is no way that anyone can recover those texts. They are gone. They are in the ether sphere.* Where is he going to get them? Not one text has been introduced into evidence.

(T.T. Vol. III. 9:12-19). There can be no dispute that this is misconduct.

Pomeroy cannot be permitted to argue outside the presence of the jury that the messages are gone in a separate "ether sphere," and then contradict that representation to the jury by stating that the messages

are actually on her phone, and that it was Holmes' fault for not looking at them.

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