IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

MATTHEW HOLMES,	
Appellant/Plaintiff,	SUPREME COURT NO. 19-1162
V.	
MIRANDA POMEROY,	
Appellee/Defendant.	
Tipperice, 2 et all all times.	

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR WARREN COUNTY CASE NO. LACV036899

APPELLEE MIRANDA POMEROY'S FINAL BRIEF

J. Scott Bardole AT0009140
ANDERSEN & ASSOCIATES
1089 Jordan Creek Parkway, Suite 360
West Des Moines, IA 50266
515-221-3660
855-229-9701 Facsimile
sbardole@travelers.com
ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE MIRANDA
POMEROY

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN PRECLUDING PLAINITFF FROM CROSS EXAMINING DEPUTY OHLINGER ON HEARSAY STATEMENTS AND USING THE HEARSAY STATEMENTS IN CLOSING ARGUMENT.

A. Standard of Review.

A trial court's evidentiary rulings are reviewed for abuse of discretion. Williams v. Hedican, 561 N.W.2d 817, 822 (Iowa 1997). An abuse of discretion occurs when the court exercises its discretion "on grounds or for reasons clearly untenable or to an extent clearly unreasonable." State v. Maghee, 573 N.W.2d 1, 5 (Iowa 1997). "A ground or reason is untenable when it is not supported by substantial evidence or when it is based on an erroneous application of the law." Graber v. City of Ankeny, 616 N.W.2d 633, 638 (Iowa 2000).

B. The trial court properly excluded the continuing use of double hearsay testimony from Deputy Ohlinger.

Deputy Lisa Ohlinger of the Warren County Sheriff's department was the officer who arrived on the scene to investigate the accident. She was called by the defendant to testify about statements made by the plaintiff at the scene. Deputy Ohlinger testified that she had limited recollection of the accident. (T.T. Volume II page 189, lines 19-26). She was permitted to refresh her recollection by reviewing

the accident report she had prepared regarding the accident. (T.T. Volume II page 190, lines 1-6). She testified that plaintiff told her he was attempting to make a left hand onto the north shoulder of Cumming Avenue so he could go to the Cumming Tap. (T.T. Volume II page 192, lines 10-14). Plaintiff also told Deputy Ohlinger that as he attempted to make his turn, he turned too wide and shot into the westbound lane of Cumming Avenue where he was struck by a westbound vehicle driven by the defendant. (T.T. Volume II page 192, lines 1-18).

In his brief plaintiff points to the following testimony of Deputy Ohlinger in support of his appellate point:

Q Now, do you recall in your report whether you investigated whether or not there was any – whether Ms. Pomeroy had been acting in any way that might have contributed to the accident at the time?

. . .

A Somebody there had mentioned that somebody else maybe had thought she was texting...

(Appellant's Brief, page 14.)

However, plaintiff did not provide the complete testimony of Deputy Ohlinger which is italicized below:

A. Somebody there had mentioned that somebody else maybe thought she had been texting. However, whoever told me that was not the person who witnessed it, nor did they know who allegedly witnessed that. That was

complete hearsay, and I didn't have anybody to corroborate that, so that was left out.

(T.T. Volume II page 195, lines 13-18).

The testimony was double hearsay that Deputy Ohlinger admitted was uncorroborated. Further, her testimony was that "somebody else *maybe thought* she had been **texting.**" In closing argument plaintiff attempted to argue that "A witness said Miranda was texting while driving." (T.T. Vol. III, page 29, lines 13-14). In fact, no witness said defendant was texting while driving. One alleged witness told another person who then told Deputy Ohlinger that they "maybe thought" defendant was texting while driving. Plaintiff's argument that "a witness said Miranda was texting while driving" was incorrect and not supported by the evidence in addition to being double hearsay, and speculative. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in disallowing cross examination or the incorrect recitation of evidence during closing argument.

Even if the trial court abused its discretion by limiting plaintiff's cross examination and preventing him from using incorrect and hearsay slides in closing arguments, such rulings were harmless error. "Error may not be predicated upon a ruling [that] admits or excludes evidence unless a substantial right of the party is affected." Iowa R. Evid. 5.103(a). The question to be asked is "[D]oes it sufficiently appear the rights of the complaining party have been injuriously affected by the error

[so] that he has suffered a miscarriage of justice?" *State v. Trudo*, 253 N.W.2d 101, 107 (Iowa 1977). In order to show that plaintiff was prejudiced, he must show that "it is probable a different result would have been reached but for the admission of evidence or testimony." *Mohammed v. Otoadese*, 738 N.W.2d 628, 633 (Iowa 2007).

First and foremost, the testimony of Deputy Ohlinger actually came into evidence. This is not a case where the hearsay testimony was not heard by the jury. Second, the documentary evidence in the case unquestionably proved that defendant was not texting at the time of the accident. The hearsay testimony in this case is the person "maybe thought" that defendant was *texting*."

Exhibit 28 is the phone record for the defendant's phone subpoenaed from Sprint, the defendant's cell phone carrier. (App. 72) It is a printout of all texts and phone calls made on the defendant's phone on the day of the accident. The accident occurred at 6:30 p.m. (T.T. Vol. II, page 87, lines 5-6). Referring to Exhibit 28, defendant testified that no phone calls or texts were made from defendant's phone between 5:58 p.m. and 6:30 when the accident occurred. (T.T. Vol. II, page 88, lines 2-16). Defendant called her mother about the accident at 6:33 p.m., three minutes after the accident. (T.T. Vol. II, page 88, lines 8-10).

Plaintiff did not challenge the accuracy or authenticity of Exhibit 28, so the evidence presented from plaintiff's cell phone proved to the jury that defendant was

not texting at the time of the accident. Defendant testified that she wasn't texting or using her phone in any way at the time of the accident and that her phone was in the center console of her car at the time of the accident. (T.T. Volume I page 45, lines 9-19). Even though plaintiff was provided access to defendant's phone and the various social medial apps on her phone, he admitted to having no evidence that defendant was using her phone in any way at the time of the accident. Plaintiff admitted that he did not see defendant using her phone in any way at the time of the accident. (T.T. Volume II page 161, lines 15-18). Plaintiff admitted that between 6:00 p.m. and 6:30 p.m. that defendant was not calling or texting on her phone. (T.T. Volume II page 162, lines 22-25). Plaintiff admitted that he was not aware of any witnesses who could testify that defendant was on her phone at the time of the accident. (T.T. Volume II page 163, lines 1-6). Finally, plaintiff admitted that he had no evidence that defendant was texting or using her phone in any other way at the time of the accident. (T.T. Volume II page 163-64, lines 1-25 and 1-4).

The documentary evidence from Exhibit 28 and plaintiff's own testimony proves that no texts were sent from defendant's phone at the time of the accident. If the plaintiff had been permitted to reiterate the double hearsay testimony that someone "maybe thought" plaintiff was *texting*, it would not have tipped the scales in the plaintiff's favor and was therefore harmless error since plaintiff was not prejudiced. There can be no prejudice where the evidence in support of the verdict

is overwhelming. State v. Holland, 485 N.W.2d 652, 656 (Iowa 1992).

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in preventing plaintiff from using double hearsay testimony elicited from Deputy Ohlinger during the course of the trial. Alternatively, the trial court's ruling preventing plaintiff from continuing to refer to the double hearsay testimony was harmless error. The overwhelming evidence at trial proved that defendant was not texting at the time of the accident and the usage of testimony from Deputy Ohlinger that "Somebody there had mentioned that somebody else maybe thought she had been texting" would not have changed the outcome of the trial and was harmless error.

II. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN ALLOWING TESTIMONY REGARDING PLAINTIFF'S STATEMENT THAT THE ACCIDENT WAS HIS FAULT.

A. Standard of Review.

A trial court's evidentiary rulings are reviewed for abuse of discretion. Williams v. Hedican, 561 N.W.2d 817, 822 (Iowa 1997). An abuse of discretion occurs when the court exercises its discretion "on grounds or for reasons clearly untenable or to an extent clearly unreasonable." State v. Maghee, 573 N.W.2d 1, 5 (Iowa 1997). "A ground or reason is untenable when it is not supported by substantial evidence or when it is based on an erroneous application of the law." Graber v. City of Ankeny, 616 N.W.2d 633, 638 (Iowa 2000).

B. The trial court did not err in permitting testimony from a witness that plaintiff admitted fault for the accident.

The trial court properly permitted the following testimony from Dr. Silver where plaintiff admitted to her that the accident was his fault:

- Q Did he say anything about the accident himself?
- A Yes.
- Q What did he say?
- A This is—he either said. "It was my fault," or "This was my fault."
- Q Do you recognize Mr. Holmes here?
- A Honestly, I don't. He had his helmet on. His face was covered in blood...

- Q But the person did say, "It was my fault," or—what did he say?
- A Yes.
- Q What were the two phrases you used?
- A It was either "This was my fault," or "It was my fault."

(Cross examination by plaintiff's counsel)

Q And, as I understand your testimony, you can't—you don't recall exactly what he said?

A It has been three years. But the words "my fault" are 100%. I just don't know if he said "It is my fault," or "This is my fault." That I cannot say. It is one of those two.

(T.T. Volume II pages 136-137, lines 25, 1-23; and page 139, lines 20-25).

Plaintiff objected to the original question as calling for a legal conclusion and his objection was overruled. (T.T. Volume II page 137, lines 6-9). Plaintiff argues that legal conclusions are not admissible as admissions against "a pleader's interest," citing *Beyer v. Todd*, 601 N.W.2d 35 (Iowa 1999). However, *Beyer v.*

Todd deals with an admission in pleadings, not an oral admission at trial and is inapplicable to this case.

Plaintiff wrongfully tries to argue that his admission that he was at fault is a lay opinion regarding his fault and invades the province of the jury. "Anything said by a party-opponent may be used against him as an 'admission', provided it exhibits inconsistency with those facts presently asserted in pleadings or testimony." *Bailey* v. *Chicago, B. & Q.R., Co.,* 179 N.W.2d 560 (Iowa 1970). Admissions of a party opponent, including admissions of fault, are admissible at trial. Iowa Rules of Evidence 5.801(d.)(2)(A).

"Another argument sometimes made to exclude opinions within admissions is that they constitute conclusions of law. Most often this issue arises in connection with statements of a participant in an accident that the mishap was the speaker's fault. While conceivably a party might give an opinion on an abstract question of law, such are not the typical statements actually offered. Instead, the statements normally include an application of a standard to the facts. Thus, they reveal the facts as the declarant thinks them to be, to which the standard of 'fault' or other legal or moral standard involved in the statement was applied. In these circumstances, the factual information conveyed should not be ignored merely because the statement may also indicate the party's assumptions about the law."

McCormick on Evidence. § 256 (8th ed. 2020)

In his brief, plaintiff admits he "didn't know the law, and as such was not equipped to opine on 'fault.'" (Appellants Brief, page 16-17). This admission bolsters the point made by Professor McCormick that typically admissions of fault are not an opinion of abstract law, but facts to which the plaintiff believed the

standard definition of fault would be applied. If, as plaintiff has admitted, he did not know the legal definition of fault when he made his admission, how could he have possibly intended to use the word fault in its legal application? It is clear that plaintiff used the term "fault" in its normal application, not its legal application.

Regardless of his intent, it should also be noted that legal terms like fault may be used in opinions regarding liability, if the popular meaning of the word is the same as the legal meaning. *In Re Detention of Palmer*, 691 N.W.2d 413, 419 (Iowa 2005). Unless the word fault has a "separate, distinct and specialized meaning in the law different" from the regular usage, it is not excludable as an inadmissible opinion regarding liability. *Id.* at 420.

Plaintiff's admission that the accident was his fault was clearly admissible under Rule 5.801(d.)(A). Additionally, since there is no difference between the word fault, as used in everyday conversation, and the word fault, as used in a legal application, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in allowing Dr. Silver to testify that plaintiff admitted that the accident was his fault.

III. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN EXCLUDING IRRELEVANT EVIDENCE AND FINDING THAT THE BEHAVIOR OF DEFENDANT AFTER THE ACCIDENT COULD NOT BE USED IN AN ATTEMPT TO PROVE HABIT.

A. Standard of Review.

A trial court's rulings on the admissibility of evidence are reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Gamedinger v. Schaefer*, 603 N.W.2d 590, 594 (Iowa 1999). The trial court's decisions on admissibility of evidence "will not be disturbed unless there is a clear and prejudicial abuse of discretion." *Id.* It is ordinarily within the trial court's discretion to decide to exclude evidence on grounds of relevancy. *Fell v. Kewanee Farm Equip. Co.*, 457 N.W.2d 911, 920 (Iowa 1990).

B. The trial court properly ruled that defendant's alleged conduct after the accident was not relevant to prove that defendant had a habit of driving while distracted.

In an attempt to divert attention from his admission that he was at fault for the accident, plaintiff tried to argue that defendant was using her cell phone at the time of the accident. He contended that since she was driving while distracted that she failed to react in a timely manner to avoid the accident. Of course, plaintiff offered no evidence at trial that defendant was using her phone at the time of the accident. As shown above, plaintiff actually testified that he had no evidence that plaintiff was using her cell phone at the time of the accident.

Since there was no evidence that plaintiff was using her phone at the time of the accident, plaintiff argued that he should be able to show that defendant had a habit of driving while distracted. (Appellant's Brief page 18). In support of this claim, plaintiff offered exhibit 41 which was a group of pictures, videos, and social media messages which plaintiff claimed defendant prepared while driving.

(Appellant's Brief page 18). Of the 50 pages of Exhibit 41, not one was prepared prior to the accident on June 8, 2015. In fact, the plaintiff was only able to elicit testimony from the plaintiff of one instance where she was texting while she was driving prior to the accident. (Appellant's Brief, pg. 20). Because the plaintiff had no evidence that defendant had a habit of driving while distracted prior to the accident, he argued that he should be able to use instances where she allegedly drove distracted after the accident to prove that she had a habit of driving while distracted. Since he had no witnesses who testified that defendant had a habit of driving her vehicle while distracted, he relied entirely on photos and other social media taken from her phone to support his position that defendant had a habit of driving while distracted.

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